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INTERVIEW

Q: When and where were you born, and tell me something about your family.

DIETERICH: I was born on December 11, 1936 in Boston, Massachusetts, where my
father was a student of theology at Boston University.

Q: How many people in your family?

DIETERICH: I was the first born, and I have twin brothers who were born about five
years later. When I was less than a year old, my father finished his studies and was
assigned to a Methodist Church in Brecksville, Ohio. We all moved West.

Q: It would not be the easiest of times in the middle of the depression. Where did you
grow up?

DIETERICH: My first memories are in the little town of Millersberg, Ohio. The
Pennsylvania Dutch country of Ohio, during the Second World War. I think I can



remember Pearl Harbor.
Q: What was your father’s background?

DIETERICH: My father was the son of a Methodist preacher in Ohio, various places in
Ohio. My mother was the daughter of a Methodist preacher in Massachusetts. They met
as students at Ohio Wesleyan University.

Q: What was life like in Millersberg?

DIETERICH: Gosh, that is hard. I don’t remember much and moved not too long after
that. I remember living in a big house across the street from the church. I remember some
of the thoughts of the war, and I do have memories of or at least heard stories of, the fact
that it was an Amish area and there were troubles in the town because Amish people
spoke German, and didn’t serve in the war. I can remember some tales of discomfort and
worry about that. I also remember a very funny incident: when somebody got it into their
head that somebody had poisoned the water tower and that it had probably been a German
agent of some sort. The police went around town knocking on doors in the middle of the
night and telling everyone to boil all their water. It turned out there were kids up there
trying to paint “Class of 1943" - or whatever it was - on the water tower.

Q: Then where did you move?

DIETERICH: We moved to Wadsworth, Ohio. I remember the Normandy invasion very
clearly, and that it happened while we were still living in Millersberg. I remember the
death of FDR in terms of Wadsworth. So we must have moved in the summer of 1944.
We stayed there until junior high school when we moved to Norwalk, Ohio.

Q: Talk about Wadsworth, where you went to school. What was school like?

DIETERICH: You know, I don’t have very strong memories of school days. Except that I
remember [ didn’t do well in the third grade. That may still have been in Millersberg. I
remember I didn’t do well, and I also remember not doing well in the first grade and
having some problems with reading, so my grandmother came (who was an old time
school teacher), and taught me by very traditional methods. My father claims she used a
McGuffy reader. Somehow she made me break through on reading. I do have this
memory of standing up in front of the class and being able to read for the first time. I had
not been able to do it before. Wadsworth - it’s hard to dredge up memories. I remember
being in the safety patrol, and having the flag that you held down, and keeping kids from
crossing the street. That’s probably a key to my character. As I said, I remember the death
of Franklin Delano Roosevelt. I can remember that I was in the backyard of the house
throwing a ball up on the roof of the garage and when it would roll back down the roof I
would catch it in my baseball glove. That doesn’t mean I ever became a good baseball
player.



Q: Were you a sore example of a preacher’s kid, or did you stay out of trouble?

DIETERICH: Oh, no, I can remember getting in trouble every now and then, but I didn’t
get into serious trouble. I’ve known a lot of preacher’s kids in my life, and some of them
were absolutely terrible and others became preachers. I was sort of in the middle.

Q: How about at home? Was religion a big thing as far as you were concerned? What did
you talk about at the dinner table?

DIETERICH: Church was a big thing in the sense it was the center of my father’s life and
we were expected to go to church. So I spent a lot of time in church, and in church youth
groups. Fortunately I learned early on that I liked to sing in the choir, which gave me a
church activity that I liked doing. Otherwise it would have been more difficult. I can
remember being proud of my father’s position and liking part of it. Preacher's kids grow
up in a funny way. You don’t have a lot of money. On the other hand, you are very much
a part of the upper class of the town. There are economic tensions in families, often,
because you have to maintain a respectable middle-class lifestyle without necessarily
having the money to do it. In my father’s case, he was usually furnished with pretty nice
houses in pretty nice parts of town. Preaching may have been a better deal back then than
Now.

Q: What about when you were getting up to junior high? Your grandmother got you to
read. Did you read much?

DIETERICH: Yes, reading was important. I can’t remember in Wadsworth, but when I
entered seventh grade we moved to the town of Norwalk, Ohio, which is really the place I
consider my home town.

Q: Where is Norwalk located?

DIETERICH: Norwalk is just south of Sanduskyj; it is to the west of Cleveland on old
route 20. It is a very old town, part of what is known as the Western Reserve of Ohio,
which was-

Q: Many people came from Connecticut.

DIETERICH: Connecticut and Massachusetts, mainly Connecticut, which is why it is
named Norwalk. There is a tiny little town named New Haven right nearby. You
mentioned reading. I remember the city library was just across a couple of back lots from
our house, and I spent a lot of time there. Not only with books, but when LP records first
came out, they began to stock LP records in the library and [ was able to borrow them.

Q: What were your interests by the time you were in junior high and high school?

DIETERICH: In junior high and high school I was interested in reading. I think I was in



Boy Scouts for awhile and liked camping. I was interested in model building, wasn’t
much good at sports, although I played tennis a lot. Not much into team sports. Kind of
interested in the social life of the school.

Q: I found that two of the subjects a good number of officers whom I interviewed majored
in, in high school, were girls and sports.

DIETERICH: No, I wasn’t into the sports thing. Also at that time, beginning in 1945, 1
began to spend summer vacations in New Hampshire where my mother’s parents had a
place. We could take a month off a year and drive to New Hampshire, which was an
awful drive in those days. It took two days on old Route 29, mainly a two lane blacktop.
My grandfather himself had built a summer cottage right on a pristine lake on the New
Hampshire-Maine border. Up there we spent a lot of time boating and fishing, especially
fishing. Lakes and boats became a big part of my life. 'm still a pretty avid amateur
sailor.

I have two strong New Hampshire memories of the end of the Second World War. My
grandfather had a cottage. Another older preacher had a cottage just to the left of ours,
and an old man who wrote children’s books for a living to the right of ours. I remember
when the atomic bomb was dropped, my father, grandfather, and the old preacher who
lived to the left of us were walking on the beach, and saying in effect, “We aren’t any
better than the Germans at this point. We aren’t any better than the Japanese. We aren’t
any better than they are. This was a terrible, unnecessary thing. We had this war won

anyway.”
Q: This was August 1945.

DIETERICH: And I remember the end of the war in that same vacation period. It was
funny because communications weren’t so good up there. We didn’t have electricity yet,
so the only way to get any news was to go out at noon and start the car and sit in it. [
remember sitting there with my father and grandfather - it was hot - so we could listen to
the car radio and get the news from WBZ in Boston. We knew the end was coming. In the
evenings as usual, we went out fishing. Fishing was food during those vacations. Grocery
stores were far away and I suppose it saved ration stamps. While we were fishing up a
river that emptied into the lake, we heard church bells start to ring from two or three little
towns and realized that must have meant the end of the war.

At the same time, when we were spending a month in New Hampshire, we would spend
about a week at a place called Lakeside in Ohio, which is on Lake Erie, which is on old
Chautauqua-style resort that had its origins in Methodist camp meetings My father’s job
would require at least a week a year there, and my other grandparents had a cottage there.
That place was also kind of important to me.

Q: You might explain for the listener what the Chautauqua system was.



DIETERICH: Lakeside started as a camp meeting place, and that is the old Methodist
tradition that goes back to the Ohio frontier. It fairly quickly allied itself with the
Chautauqua movement, which started in Chautauqua, New York at the Chautauqua
Institution. The idea was to bring culture and education to the countryside, to the small
towns in the United States. People would go to a resort in the summer and sign on for a
week or a month, and they were guaranteed there would be an uplifting, or educational, or
entertaining program every night at some kind of an auditorium. And there would be
other facilities. This one at Lakeside, where I now own a cottage and spend three months
every summer on Lake Erie, still operates as a full blown Chautauqua. You pay an
admission fee to live there and either rent or own your cottage and in return for that you
get to go to the auditorium every night if you want to. It has a pretty good residential
symphony orchestra and some other things going for it.

Q: One of our colleagues here goes to Chautauqua, New York every year.

DIETERICH: Well, Lakeside is sort of a cut-rate Chautauqua. It’s a lot cheaper than the
one in New York, and its entertainment tends to be sort of off the “Prairie Home
Companion” circuit rather than New York concert halls. On the other hand, the boating
on Lake Erie is infinitely superior to anything you can do on Lake Chautauqua.

Q: You went to high school in Norwalk?
DIETERICH: Yes, I did.
Q: Did the outside world intrude at all?

DIETERICH: Norwalk was a pretty classical, pleasant, small town, perhaps a bit on the
prosperous side. County seat, insular, smug, but with decent standards. The high school
was okay. The library was pretty good. Norwalk thought of itself as a Western Reserve
-kind of cut-above some of the other towns in the area. Those were times when indeed the
world intruded. It was the period of the Korean War. The world wouldn’t leave people
alone in towns like that. It was the post-Edward R. Murrow era - when the radio was
insistently knocking at your door and bringing the world in. I can think of times when the
world intruded in the sense of beginning to stimulate my interest. Maybe this is a good
thing to talk about. I remember - going back to Wadsworth - having a Jewish kid as a
friend - and remembering the foundation of the State of Israel. That was around ‘48. This
kid told me about how he wanted to go fight for the State of Israel. I remember thinking,
“What kind of a business is this? This is really weird, sitting here in Ohio, and Arnie says
he wants to go fight for Israel.” I also remember being at his house at the founding of the
United Nations and his folks having it on the radio. We were pursuing a hobby we had
together, which was electric trains. I remember we were down in the basement fiddling
with a train layout and on the radio was the foundation of the United Nations. Right after
the war, too, I remember having - no, not right after - probably around ‘48, maybe ‘49, a
kid came from Germany - a girl - to visit our school and the church. I spent a lot of time
talking to her and getting kind of interested.



Then there was the church and missionaries. When I was very young an old Bishop of the
Methodist Church named Smith who had been a missionary in India. He must have been
an old-style missionary because he used to tell me tales about hunting tigers. I don’t think
there are many missionaries left in the world who hunt tigers. Maybe the world is poorer
for that. But he hunted tigers, and I remember he had a missing finger. [ always thought
probably a tiger got it. Maybe that stimulated an interest in me for overseas adventure.

Q: What about in high school? Do you recall any of the books that were influential in
your life?

DIETERICH: No, I don’t think I was reading books on foreign affairs at that time. If
books were influential, it would have been more novels. I can remember an attraction for
novels that were set in other places.

Q: Can you think of any novels - through Nordhoff and Hall or Kenneth Roberts?

DIETERICH: Oh, sure, absolutely. Kenneth Roberts and The Bounty Trilogy, but that is
all sailing stuff.

Q: Swallows of Amansville, did you ever read those?

DIETERICH: No, no. I'm trying to think of books that were interesting politically. Early
on - George Orwell in high school. In 71984, the Animal Farm, and Koestler’s Darkness at
Noon. How I got into that I don’t remember but I read them in high school. But, I don’t
remember being influenced towards the foreign service until I got to college.

Q: You probably didn’t know what it was. This certainly wasn’t something that was high
on anybody’s agenda.

DIETERICH: I think what does happen, though, for people that grow up in academic and
preachers’ families is that they are not really motivated toward the world of business.
People don’t talk about it. When my father would talk about things at home, he would be
talking about the church more often than not, the politics and administrative problems of
the church, rather than the high issues of theology.

Q: What about missionaries? This is more of an outreach from your background than
from a lot of people.

DIETERICH: I think that’s true. I remember a family in New Hampshire who were
missionaries to China. I think their name was Harley. They had a couple of boys older
than me. Good athletes, attractive, fun to be around, and they had all come back from
China. I remember admiring them. What I don’t remember is them ever telling me
anything about China. I can remember the mother saying good-bye to these boys. Leaving
them at college and she was going back to China. My parents talked about what a hard



thing that must be to do. That mother realized she wouldn’t see her boys for another four
or five years. I can remember other people from China staying at our house overnight. I
can remember at church camps, hearing lectures about going to work to help missionaries
in Latin America. I remember one particularly absurd happening where one of the
lecturers, naive in a way that that you sometimes find among church people, telling the
boys, “Now if you go down there you know you have to be very careful with the girls
because they have easier standards of sexual behavior.” You can imagine all those
teen-age boys thinking, “Sounds like the place for me.”

Q: When you graduated from high school, did you have any idea of what you wanted to
do? Baseball player, or president of the United States, or were you just interested in
going to the university or college?

DIETERICH: I had been elected to class offices in high school so maybe I had a
beginning interest in politics. There were probably the seeds of an interest in government
at that point. I certainly knew what I didn’t want to do. I didn’t want to be a doctor,
lawyer, or preacher. I knew I wanted to go to college. I probably knew even then my
interests were tending toward the liberal arts.

Q: Where did you go to school?
DIETERICH: I went to Wesleyan - not Ohio Wesleyan - but to the one in Connecticut.
Q: Oh, yes, I went to Williams.

DIETERICH: Did you really? That led to a running family joke for years. Since my
parents, and others in the family, went to Ohio Wesleyan, I have always referred to
Wesleyan as the “Real Wesleyan.” They insist on calling it “Connecticut Wesleyan.”

Q: Why Wesleyan?

DIETERICH: I don’t know. My parents were interested in it, and I have no idea who first
suggested it. Ohio Wesleyan was an obvious application as was DePauw University,
where my maternal grandfather had gone. A scholarship was a primary consideration. I
had done pretty well in high school. As it turned out, Wesleyan offered a much better
scholarship package than either Ohio Wesleyan or DePauw.

Q: Did you also have a feeling that you wanted to get out of the Ohio Valley and see
more of the world?

DIETERICH: Yes, that did appeal to me. I had a friend from high school who was a year
older than I was who had gone to Trinity. Actually I didn’t really live in the Ohio Valley,
but in the North, near the shore of Lake Erie.

Q: So you went to Wesleyan from when to when?
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DIETERICH: From ‘54 to ‘58.
Q: What was Wesleyan like then?

DIETERICH: It was a wonderful place. Unlike some people, I have very positive
memories of my undergraduate years. Wesleyan was a great place at that time. It only had
800 students. It was a men’s school, with a very strong fraternity system that had been
totally integrated into the school. Fraternities were the working housing, feeding and
social units of the school and really didn’t behave like the fraternities at big-time schools
at all. I enjoyed the life there; I had great teachers; I eventually ended up doing a tutorial
and honors thesis with Carl Schorske. (Carl E. Schorske: Professor Emeritus of History at
Princeton. Taught at Wesleyan in the fifties. Author of Pulitzer prize-winning
Fin-de-siecle Vienna.)

Q: What was your major?

DIETERICH: History. History with a lot of English Lit. I was a very thorough history
major, except that I read a lot of novels and tended to write papers along the line of How
Pride and Prejudice can teach you more about England than reading history, which I still
believe.

Q: 1 did the same using Gilbert and Sullivan. I was a history major too. What fraternity
were you in?

DIETERICH: Alpha Delta Phi. It was an interesting place at that time, and there are very
few people now who would understand how formative it was. Here were a bunch of
students who were given the right to manage their own lives. Cleaning the house, feeding
themselves, taking care of it, fundraising from alumni. I think it was good training.
Wesleyan’s Alpha Delta Phi at that time was in a very interesting stage. When I went in,
the house leadership were Korean war veterans. Very hard-drinking, very hard-studying,
hard- playing, disillusioned people. They were disillusioned about everything but the
academic life, but studying, the life of the mind. They were very interesting persons. The
fraternity was interesting in that it was about half Jewish, and that was an issue. It was the
kind of place that instead of having a jazz concert on Sunday afternoon, we figured out
we could have a string quartet concert and attract as many people or more than you would
with a jazz concert. A lot of people were into classical music. My interest in classical
music had developed as a kid from my mother and singing in all those choirs, but it really
blossomed there because there were a lot of people around me that were into it.

There were of course some silly pseudo-Masonic rituals left over from the nineteenth
century. They were carried out a basement room that had been gussied up to look like a
Magic Flute set. But the ceremonial stuff was rapidly declining mainly because of
brothers in the back row who were competing to produce the loudest fart during solemn
moments.
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Q: In history, what areas were you interested in?
DIETERICH: European history. Basically modern European history.

Q: At this time, the Korean War was just about over but the Cold War was really going
strong and we had the Suez crisis, and the Hungarian revolt. Was that something people
were keeping an eye on?

DIETERICH: That takes me back to pre-college. I do have strong memories of thinking
how awful it was that, after the Second World War, Russia - this big country that
everybody could like, that had been our ally - suddenly in ‘47 and ‘48 becoming an
enemy. How disillusioning this was. What a terrible thing this was. I don’t remember the
fear of the atomic bomb that everybody says we all felt. I don’t remember feeling that, nor
engaging in any "duck and cover" drills.

Q: I don'’t either. I'm eight years older than you are.

DIETERICH: I don’t remember jumping under my desk at school. I do remember well
the beginning of the Korean War. There was almost a feeling of despair among people we
knew. I remember families in my father’s church that had sons up around the Chosan
Reservoir, when the Chinese intervened in that awful first winter of the war. We had
church services that revolved around those events. I guess growing up during the war, and
then watching what we thought we had won go bad, did influence me in terms of thinking
foreign affairs were important. You couldn’t grow up during the period of the Second
World War and not think that America’s relationship with the rest of the world was
important. You had to believe that.

Q: While you were at college - ‘54 to ‘58 period - were you feeling or seeing any
reactions to McCarthyism?

DIETERICH: I did not. I remember the McCarthy hearings when I was in high school and
my parent’s reactions. Very strong anti-McCarthy reactions. But I don’t remember much
going on at Wesleyan. I think McCarthy had basically been broken by then.

Q: Just about. I think he died in ‘55 or ‘56.

DIETERICH: I remember there was the beginning of a silly Left at Wesleyan at that time.
Q: Were there any sort of causes you were getting involved in?

DIETERICH: Sure, there were causes. [ worked on the college radio station and, again,
Israel came into my consciousness. I can remember working on the college radio station

during the ‘56 Suez War, and having a lot of mainly Jewish students crowding into what
we called the news room - it was a large closet with a teletype in it - to get the news hot
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off the ticker and read it. Again, I was very conscious of America’s engagement with
Israel.

And another interesting one: I remember sitting in a room in the fraternity house with two
naval officers from Argentina. They talked about the overthrow of Peron in Argentina and
I thought, “Wow, that is very interesting and what an interesting place Argentina must
be.” In my mind, I guess Latin America had been sort of an endless string of Mexican
border towns. I had very little idea of place like Argentina where things happened on as
large a scale as they did in those days.

And of course civil and minority rights issues were beginning to grow in everyone's
consciousness. In my sophomore year, the fraternity had a big fight over whether to
extend full membership to a hearing-impaired student. Some members, not without
justification, found him obnoxious. Others of us felt that to deny full membership to a
handicapped pledge who had been with us for months would reflect badly on the house.
The fraternity had a "black ball" system which meant that one member could veto any
prospective member. We took secret vote after secret vote and somebody kept dropping
the black ball. Finally we were faced with a large group of members who were
threatening to resign if he were not admitted to full membership. I finally proposed that
we revise our bylaws in a way that mooted the black ball system. That was done by
majority vote. The person in question was admitted and nobody resigned. A few months
later, the national organization of Alpha Delta Phi sent a representative to tell us we had
to reinstate the black ball system or risk our national accreditation. We told him to stuff it.
Nothing happened.

The destruction of the black ball system turned out to be very important later on. I had
become president of the fraternity and we admitted our first black member. I guess he was
also the first black to be admitted nationally. He was an outstanding student from the
Midwest named Jim Thomas. It is important to remember that fraternities are very
dependent on alumni donations. We were scared that our money might dry up, so I spent
time on the phone talking with big donors. Some of the biggest were very supportive and
we did just fine.

I was proud of what we did. Later on, in the late seventies I guess, the Wesleyan chapter
of Alpha Delta Phi became one of the first fraternities to admit women. I guess the
membership is now about half and half and I receive fundraising letters from female
chapter presidents. Instead of "brothers" they now refer to each other as "siblings." Good
for them.

Q: While you were at Wesleyan, what was the source of that most important commodity -
dates?

DIETERICH: Oh, Connecticut College, Mount Holyoke, I mean in terms of my personal

experience. Smith, even as far afield as Radcliffe, although you had to be able to travel on
the weekends. I dated a lot of girls but didn’t end up marrying any of them.
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Q: As a history major, were you thinking about the future and what you wanted to do?

DIETERICH: Yes, I was, and I spent a lot of time looking at European history and ended
up writing my thesis comparing Orwell and Huxley, the two, as I called them, inverted
utopias. [ saw a new word the other day - you can call them disutopias. But writing a
thesis on that for Carl Schorske got me deeply into European intellectual history of the
early twentieth century. You can’t spend time with George Orwell without spending time
with the Spanish Civil War and the basic issues of war and peace and politics of the
century. I suppose out of those studies I became a pretty classic anti-Communist of the
period, except I wasn’t really. The Orwellian road to not liking the communists is not the
American way.

Q: Were you pointed towards anything?

DIETERICH: I don’t know when it started, but certainly by my senior year I was
convinced I wanted to go to graduate school in international studies, in foreign affairs,
which is what I eventually did. Beginning sometime in my junior year, there was some
idea that I might want to go into the foreign service.

Q: Did you run into anyone who had been in the foreign service who could give you any
information about it?

DIETERICH: No, not until graduate school. I don’t remember thinking anywhere near as
much as I should have about what I was going to do for a living. I was enjoying being an
undergraduate. You get pretty good at it, and then they made you quit. Like a lot of kids
who like college, I thought about teaching for awhile. But I just sort of slipped into
graduate school because I didn’t have a career plan, thought that would be interesting, and
got offered a fellowship that made it possible.

Q: Where did you go to graduate school?

DIETERICH: I went to SAIS (The School of Advanced International Studies) which is
here in Washington but affiliated with Johns Hopkins University.

Q: You were there from when to when?

DIETERICH: I was at the Washington campus during the academic year ‘58-’59, and
then I went to the school's Bologna Center in Italy for ‘59-’60.

Q: While you were at SAIS, what was the spirit of the place? Were these people who were
going to get involved in Washington? Who were they?

DIETERICH: They were people who were headed for the foreign service or toward
employment in government agencies in the foreign affairs field. At that point, SAIS was a
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big feeder for the foreign service, and especially a big feeder for AID (Agency for
International Development), or ICA (International Cooperation Administration) as it was
known at that time. There was a beginning interest in people going into international
business, and SAIS at that time was doing some very heavy fund raising along those lines.
Some people also did that. But it was very much oriented toward going into somebody’s
foreign service, whether it was the U.S. government or some multinational corporation.
That is pretty much what happened to the people I went to SAIS with.

As to who went there, I remember noticing later when I was serving in Israel and we were
very involved with our embassy colleagues in Egypt, that both Ambassadors and both of
the heads of USIS were SAIS graduates.

Felix Bloch who was later accused of espionage was also there.

Q: Did you have the feeling the faculty and student body were any particular part of the
political spectrum?

DIETERICH: More to the liberal side of center. Again, you weren’t yet into the period of
political polarization. This is pre-Kennedy. I don’t remember heavy politicization, neither
as an undergraduate nor a graduate student.

Q: While you were at SAIS here in Washington, what sort of courses were you taking?

DIETERICH: I followed a course of Western European area studies. I did one year in
Western Europe, but since then I have had very little to do with Western Europe.

Q: Up to this point you had never been abroad, had you?
DIETERICH: No, I had not. I had been to Canada once and that was it.
Q: Was this a considerable yearning to get out and see the world?

DIETERICH: Oh, absolutely, I was very anxious to do that. Had I not gone to graduate
school, I think I would probably have joined the navy. (End of tape)

What was fun about being in Bologna was that it was Bologna. Academically, I don’t
think it was a particularly enriching experience. My undergraduate years were better
academically than graduate school was. But being there was the most important thing,
and being part of a student body that was half European at that time. That had huge
advantages in terms of cultural enrichment and getting used to simply living in and with
foreign cultures. It also had a big academic advantage in that the common language was
English, and my English was better than theirs. Most American students in Bologna in
those days could coast a little bit academically. And we did have some time to see things.
I'lived in an apartment with an Italian, a German, and an Austrian. We hired a maid to
cook for us, and went to classes (which I don’t remember very well). One of them was in
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a classroom that was so old that Dante could have studied there and it was cold. My
memories are of being in Italy and having time to travel a bit. I remember very clearly
going to Berlin and getting my picture taken in front of the Brandenburg Gate, which was
THE place to have your picture taken in those days. That was where all the
correspondents stood with their mikes on television. Academically, the biggest problem
was that [ had to pass a fairly tough language requirement, because I came in with
German as an undergraduate. So I had to keep studying German and working at it pretty
hard, even when I was at Bologna. At Bologna I was still studying German in order to
pass a language requirement to get my masters degree.

Q: Did you get a feel for the politics of Italy? Did it sharpen your observation skills?

DIETERICH: Oh, yes, absolutely. I was also studying the politics of Germany at the time.
I think in terms of courses that were influential to me, the one I really liked the best was a
sort of trade-craft course. It was taught by a senior Italian diplomat. It was really a good
course. He, for the first time, began to give me a feeling of how embassies worked -
tradecraft - the mechanics of foreign affairs. I thought it was a useful course and it did
pique my interest.

Q: Had you made application to take the foreign service exam?

DIETERICH: I took the foreign service exam in Florence, Italy, and then took the orals
back in Washington and didn’t pass them. I don’t remember exactly when, but it was
some time after [ had returned from Italy and before I actually went into the Navy.

Q: Do you recall any of the questions that were asked at that oral exam?

DIETERICH: I can remember a question I bobbled. They were sort of American
government questions, such as how many justices are on the Supreme Court. One of them
I bobbled - somebody wanted to know the relationship between Wagner and Hitler. In
trying to give a complicated and sophisticated answer about an issue which I knew a great
deal about, both Hitler and Wagner, I gave the impression I didn’t think there was much
of a relationship. I think the person thought I was kind of dumb. What I was trying to say
was, you can’t blame Wagner for Hitler. Basically, they said, “You’re not ready yet.” And
the question of my military eligibility had come up, and I knew I was vulnerable. They
sort of said, “Go do your military service and then try again.”

Q: What was your military service?

DIETERICH: I got back from Bologna and went home to Ohio to find a draft notice
waiting for me in the mail. Obviously, they were going to draft me. So I called the draft
board and said, “Give me some more time because I want to try to get a commission.” |
had known a couple of people at Wesleyan who were going into the Navy OCS (Officer
Candidate School), and one of them had come back to visit and said he was enjoying it. |
had this interest in boats, water, so basically I said fine, I’ll go into the Navy for three
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years or whatever it was. Eventually, I was accepted in the OCS program, but there was a
delay and I was stuck in Ohio. One day I got really tired of it, got on a bus and went down
to Washington. I was wandering around town trying to figure out how to get a job. I
walked by the Democratic National Headquarters. It was the beginning of the Kennedy
campaign; [ went in and said, “Can you give me a job?” He said, “Okay, you’re a
messenger. Sixty-five dollars a week, take it or leave it.” I took it. In the meantime I got
together with some friends and we rented an apartment that we could afford.

Q: Well, what was the spirit of the campaign? Could you talk about your experiences?

DIETERICH: A lot of it was errand running, taking things from one person to another,
but it got to be pretty important, at least to me. I remember spending time in an office
with Paul Butler (ex-Democratic National Chairman), and he wasn’t real busy, but [ went
to his law office and he spent a lot of time talking. I remember riding around with
Sergeant Shriver, and not being sure of who the hell he was. I took drafts of speeches
over to Mrs. Kennedy in Georgetown. I was told by people in Pierre Salinger’s office that
my job was to get her to look at them. And failing. I remember going over there once and
having Mrs. Kennedy come bounding down the stairs with a towel around her head and a
bathrobe on. She had just washed her hair. She thanked me but wasn’t much interested in
the speech. She made it clear she was willing to read it but that was about it. I delivered to
her a package, a gift from somebody. She opened it and there were these little doily type
things you put on the arm of a chair.

Q: Antimacassar.

DIETERICH: Antimacassar, yes. And she said, “These are awful, do you want them?” I
said, “No thanks.” Then I thought as I was taking a cab back to headquarters, “She
shouldn’t say things like that.” Then I guess sort of breakthrough came when somebody
had given me a latter that had come out of a box called “nationalities,” in this big
complex that was basically the public affairs office of the DNC. Somebody had looked at
it and said, “I think the signature says Adenauer.” It was a letter from Konrad Adenauer
that had been dropped in this box and ignored. Somebody said, “Take it to the Library of
Congress, get it translated and then take it to the DNC chairman's office. In the cab on the
way over I could read enough German to realize it was a request to send some members
of the Bundestag to the campaign to observe the last days of the campaign. I thought, “I
don’t have to take this to the Library of Congress, I can take it straight to the chairman’s
office.” I did, and they said yes, but the upshot of it was nobody really wanted to pay any
attention to these Germans in the last days of the campaign, so they asked me to sort of be
their escort. This was based on the idea that I could speak German, which I really
couldn’t, but that did not become necessary. It got me into a lot of events that perhaps I
wouldn’t have gotten into otherwise.

Q: Sometimes campaigns have a spirit of their own. Did you pick up a feeling of
mobilizing of younger America as a new generation?
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DIETERICH: Oh, absolutely; it was really exciting. It was a whole lot of fun. Kennedy
was a new generation, and he was very close to our generation. That old thing about
Kennedy attracting people into government - absolutely true. The United States did have
something to teach the rest of the world and we ought to teach it. I don’t think I ever saw
John Kennedy during the campaign. I remember I saw Bobby Kennedy once, who barked
at me because his car wasn’t where it was supposed to be. It wasn’t my job to get it there.
I remember sort of a blur, to, of just running around and being in the Mayflower or
whatever hotel it was when he won. And being offered a job afterwards. I was sent over
to Harrison Williams’ office and offered a job as a something or other aide, working in
the congressman’s office. I had to say no because the Navy had me scheduled to show up
in Newport, Rhode Island, in January. I have often wondered what would have happened
if I had gone to work on the Hill instead of joining the navy.

Q: You were in the navy from when to when?

DIETERICH: I was in the navy from January 1961. I spent four months at Newport.
When I took my physical the summer before, they discovered I was partially color blind.
This meant I would not end up on the bridge of a destroyer in the North Atlantic; I was
going to end up in the supply corps of the navy. I had a choice of either the supply corps
or naval intelligence, and navy intelligence would have required me to waste a lot of time
with increased security clearances and delay another six months. So I went to Newport for
basic officer training, spent four months there, then went to Athens, Georgia, for six
months as a commissioned officer for training in supply and logistics, personnel
management and all the other stuff supply people are supposed to do.

Q: Where did you go after your training?

DIETERICH: Remember, I joined the navy because I really wanted to serve on a ship. In
the first place, I was too color blind to serve up on the bridge where it really counts.
Secondly, I'm one of the few persons in my class that got sent to shore duty. The navy
was full of people who were ready to quit because they couldn’t stand life on a ship, and I
wanted to be there but I got shore duty. I went to the Naval Air Facility in Okinawa as the
disbursing officer. If there is anything I never thought I would be in my life, it was to be
the person in charge of all the accounting of a pretty good size activity. I went out there as
the disbursing officer, an ensign in the supply corps of the U.S. Navy. In the first place, I
found myself overseas; we ran Okinawa in those days but it was Japan’s. Almost
everybody who worked for me was either Okinawan mainland Japanese, or Filipino. I
basically ended up with a bunch of third country national employees working for me. At
that, time the supply corps ratings in the navy on the enlisted side were heavily manned
by Filipinos who had come into the U.S. Navy as steward’s mates. These persons had
worked their way up from being waiters in officer's wardrooms into the supply ranks
because it didn’t require a high security clearance. In my disbursing office, I had about
nine people working there running comptometer machines. Out of those, one was a
mainland Japanese, one was an Okinawan, one was a skinny, middle-western American.
The rest were Filipinos, including my senior assistant. It was fun working overseas and it
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was fun supervising people from another country.
Q: Did it make you nervous being responsible for a lot of money?

DIETERICH: I don’t remember being nervous about it. I suppose that is testimony that
the training in Athens was really pretty good. I think the U.S. military is very good at
training. You came out of the school in Athens, Georgia, thinking you knew enough to do
the job. I’'m not naturally careful and painstaking, so I had to make myself be careful. We
were disbursing a hell of a lot of money. I was probably signing by hand something like
1200 checks every two weeks. All I accounted for was the money. I was the paymaster. I
didn’t decide what to buy - I just made sure that the procedures had been followed and
that the bills were paid on time. At the same time, I also supervised the mess hall; that
didn’t require a lot of supervision. I sat on a lot of courts martial.

Q: Did you get around Okinawa and Japan?

DIETERICH: Yes, a lot. Well in the first place, I met my wife after a few months there.
We were introduced by mutual friends. She was a draftsman in the office that planned
and built new PXs (Post Exchange). She was from Okinawa, but had recently returned
from two years of architectural studies in Japan. Her father a very prominent architect.
My first few months there, my off-time was mostly spent with navy buddies. The second
half of my year and a half tour was pretty much dominated by Keiko and my courtship of
her.

Q: How did a cultural courtship work?

DIETERICH: Hard! It takes a lot of work. In the first place, you have language
difficulties. She had English but had never had much practice. I had no Japanese, so we
had to work a lot on that. It requires a lot of time and patience. She learned English and
my Japanese remained primitive, to say the least.

Q: How about her family?

DIETERICH: I met them early on. They were nice people. They were probably trapped
like my family eventually was - between what they thought was a good idea and what
they had taught their kids to believe. Her father was a modern kind of person. Keiko used
to say, “My father is the only person I know that thinks the emperor is a waste of money
and should be fired.” That was a very unusual thing for a Japanese to believe.

Q: You say “Japanese”, was your wife’s family Japanese or Okinawan?
DIETERICH: Okinawan, but you know, that’s an interesting bit of history. It’s very
complicated. Japan took over Okinawa in the late 1860s and it was a no-nonsense kind of

occupation, in the sense that they said, “You are Japanese now and school in Japanese
starts tomorrow.” American policy, after the Second World War, found it convenient to
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emphasize the cultural differences of Okinawa and treat Okinawa as an independent
country that had been liberated from Japan. It was not an absurd policy stance; it was just
overly influenced by wartime propaganda, by genuine sympathy for all that Okinawan
civilians had suffered during the battle, and at least a half-century out of date. The
Ryukyuan monarchy Japan overthrew had sustained centuries of relative independence by
playing off, one against the other, the two regional superpowers, Japan and China.
Okinawans became very good at sustaining their own cultural values, of which they are
still very proud, while paying necessary tribute to the powers that were. I think there was
probably a sort of generation gap which probably persists even today. Older people
tended to embrace traditional cultural values, idealize the old days, and mistrust the
authorities up north. Younger people with dreams and careers to pursue admired the
dynamism of Meiji Japan.

The fact is, certainly by the 1930s if not earlier, most Okinawans considered themselves
to be a loyal citizens of the Japanese empire. While they suffered social prejudice and
economic discrimination on the part of mainlanders, they also enjoyed the full rights of
Japanese citizenship. Okinawans served with distinction in the Japanese military, even in
some senior positions. Whatever doubts they had about the military government and the
war were probably similar to those of mainlanders.

So, in a sense we were kidding ourselves that we had liberated an independent country
called Okinawa. The truth was we maintained an occupation regime in the islands until
1974 - almost a quarter century after World War II occupations ended elsewhere. Tokyo's
attitude was also complex. While continued occupation was a kind of national
embarrassment, the American security umbrella was a great convenience and money
saver. I don't think the successive Liberal Democratic governments were particularly
interested in getting Okinawa back. Besides, U.S. governments were particularly helpful
in coming up with face-saving formulas. Early on we recognized that our occupation was
temporary and that Japan held residual sovereignty - whatever that is - over the islands.
We also recognized that Okinawans were Japanese citizens. If an Okinawan were to go to
the mainland, he could get a Japanese passport which would be recognized by U.S.
consular and immigration authorities. If he were to travel directly from Okinawa, he
could use a U.S. Civil Administration, Ryukyus (USCAR) document called something
like Identification Document in Lieu of a Passport. It also worked although it was, of
course, much less recognizable in countries other than the U.S.

At the beginning, in the wake of that horrible battle that killed more Okinawan civilians
than combatants on both sides, there was little opposition to the occupation. People were
traumatized by their own suffering and the defeat of Japan, and we were pretty efficient in
feeding and housing people. Besides, the mainland was under occupation, too.

Kiel's family was particularly connected to the mainland, because a lot of the family lived
there. There was never any doubt that they considered themselves Okinawan in culture
but Japanese in citizenship and loyalty. If you ask my wife if she is Okinawan or
Japanese, the question makes no sense. There are differences - in culture, cuisine and
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folklore - but Okinawans considered themselves part of Japan. There were still people
around that spoke the old Okinawan dialect. Keiko can understand it but can’t speak it.
Her younger nieces and nephews can’t even understand it very well - it is pretty much
gone.

Q: When you got married, was the foreign service still something you wanted to do?

DIETERICH: Absolutely, and it complicated things considerably. I finished my time in
the navy, finished my tour in Okinawa, and Keiko and I were engaged but both of us
thought a year apart would be a good testing period. Both of our families knew of our
intention and agreed. So I went on to my next assignment. I still wanted to go to sea, but
my next assignment was the Navy Security Station in Washington, DC. They put me right
in a town where it would make it easy for me to look for a job. I worked in the supply
department there. They had an automation project that had gone sour and, if I contributed
anything during that year, it was getting computer types to talk to supply types. I realized
quickly they didn’t speak the same language. I spent a lot of time as an interpreter
between two cultures.

Of course, I remember very well the death of Kennedy. I saw armed Marines running by
the window of my office and then the reports started coming in. I remember an odd
reaction - after his death was confirmed, there was silence and almost everybody simply
went back to work. It was as though they didn’t know what else to do. Keiko remembers
her father waking her up to tell her the news and saying, “You can’t go to that country, it
is a terrible place.”

I suppose I had the same emotions everybody else had, but maybe a bit exaggerated
because I was living by myself. The next day was a day off work without a lot to do. I
remember wandering around Washington, and standing out in front of the church during
the funeral.

When I finished with the Navy - well, even before that - as [ remember, and I think this is
accurate - I could not retake the foreign service exam at that point because of my
intention to marry a foreign national. I talked to both State and USIA (U.S. Information
Agency) about that. USIA said, “Well, take the management intern exam. It’s a good job,
you’ll get the same pay, but you probably won’t serve overseas.” USIA had sort of been
on my mind ever since graduate school. So I took the management intern exam and was
accepted by USIA. I asked when they wanted me to start and they named a date. I said,
“That is convenient. Now I have to go to Okinawa and get married.” They said that was
nice and they would see me when I got back. I got on a plane (this was the first time I had
to pay for a ticket), and flew to Okinawa. We got married shortly after I got there, at City
Hall, but then there was a church wedding scheduled for July 20th. On the morning of
July 20th, 1964, somebody came from someplace and handed me a message saying,
“Please come to the Okinawa Relay Station of the Voice of America at Chained Air
Base.”
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I had time to get in a taxi and go out there. I didn’t know what a relay station did exactly
but I found the place. I walked in and they said, “USIA wants to know if you would be
willing to go to work here, and we would like to interview you.” I said, “Fine. [ have a
masters degree in foreign affairs.” They said “Who cares? Do you know anything about
supply or accounting or any of that?”” And I said, “Yes, right here in Okinawa up to a year
ago I was disbursing officer down at Naha Air Base.” They said, “That’s fine, just what
we need. Are you willing?” I said, “I have to talk to my wife-to-be.” I did. It wasn’t too
hard to convince Keiko that we might live there rather than in Washington. I went back
and told them, “Yes, if you will give my wife and me a trip back to the United States so
she can meet my parents. They said that was fine because I needed some training anyway.
So they sent me back to Washington.

Keiko and I had a wonderful two months or so in the States. We moved into the
efficiency apartment I had rented while I was at the Security Station. I reported for duty at
the VOA engineering division, which was in the old tempos (temporary buildings) on the
mall.

They had no idea how to train me so they have me a little office and a copy of USIA's
manual of operations and told me to read it. They also arranged appointments for me to
meet people involved in relay station administration, which was helpful. The rest of my
work time was taken up with all the necessary in-processing stuff and preparations for
any overseas assignment. | think I had to be first appointed as a civil servant and the
re-appointed as foreign service staff. We also had time for basic sight-seeing and a trip to
Ohio to meet my parents and brothers. We had a great time there, too.

Then, in October, we went back to Okinawa. We were given a nice three bedroom house
on Kadena Air Base in a housing area shared by VOA, the American Consular Unit
(which was a consulate in all but name, and the CIA's Foreign Broadcast Information
Service (FBIS.) I settled into the job and we had a marvelous three and a half years.

The function of a relay station was to pick up VOA short wave signals from the United
States, transmit them by medium wave (AM) into China, the Soviet maritime provinces,
and North Korea. That meant we broadcast in five languages - Mandarin, Russian,
Korean plus a bit of Japanese and English. Imagine the size of that transmitter - medium
wave, and million watts. I think 50,000 watts is the statutory limit in the United States.
This was a monster liberated from the Germans as a war reparation. It stood behind glass
in a space about the size of three ample bedrooms and had vacuum tubes as tall as a small
adult. We pumped gallons of sea water to cool it.

Q: I think this might be a good place to stop.

DIETERICH: All right. Except for one thing - my daughter was born a year or so later at
the U.S. Army Hospital.

Q: That changes ones life.

22



DIETERICH: It does indeed.

Q: Why don’t we stop at this point and next time we will start at 1964 when you got your
so- called training back in Washington, you've come back to Okinawa with your wife,
and we will talk a bit about what you were doing in Okinawa and then move on from
there.

skokok

This is the 26th of October 1999. Jeff, what are we up to? We are in Okinawa. Was your
job a different situation there?

DIETERICH: Yes, it was. Let me go back a little bit to the military service, because |
thought of some stuff over the past week. My duties were very routine administrative
duties and the better you ran the office, the quieter it was. All you really had to do was
keep the accounts straight and pay the bills on time. However, there were collateral
duties. They ended up being the most interesting things I did in the navy.

All officers had to stand communications watches. I drew duty on the crucial night of the
Cuban missile crisis in 1962. This meant standing duty in the communications center,
because only commissioned officers were permitted to decrypt the most highly classified
messages. The decryption machine used adjustable rotors not unlike those I have seen in
pictures of the famous German enigma machine. It was a complicated machine to run. I
remember standing a very tense, nervous night thinking, “This is the night something is
going to come in. Then I am going to see if I really remember how to run that machine
because training was three months ago.” But nothing came in.

Later I got tapped to sit on a court martial in a murder case. [ had been on courts martial
before, and served as a defense attorney at one time, but minor stuff - petty thefts,
drunkenness, general misbehavior. The Cobb case, however, was a much different, and
one of the first cases that attracted a lot of attention in Okinawa. It was a precursor of
some recent cases and involved the murder of an Okinawan. This was a particularly sad
case in that it should have been avoidable. The defendant, Cobb, had been removed from
a ship because of erratic behavior, inexplicable behavior, and was in Okinawa waiting for
transportation back to the United States. He went out to a red light district one night,
hooked up with a prostitute and during the course of the evening he killed her. He beat
her to death with a bedside alarm clock. It was an awful case, covered heavily in the
Okinawan press. It was difficult because there had been signs in the past that the person
was a lunatic. But the old McNaughten rule came into play, and the question became,
“Was he so incapacitated that he could not distinguish right from wrong?”” He also had a
very good defense attorney, Howard McClellan, an ex-Judge Advocate General type who
had settled down in Okinawa and had taken up the defense of service men in courts
martial. We finally found him guilty and sentenced him to 20 to 25 years. His sentence
was somewhat light in this case, because of suspicions on the part of the court martial
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board that the Navy had somehow failed for not putting this person under restraint or
something to keep this from happening. Okinawans felt the sentence was way too light,
and that he would go back to the States and be incarcerated and somehow or other be
released. He served a good bit of his sentence.

Q: In 1964, you went back to Okinawa. You were there from when to when?
DIETERICH: I was there in the navy for 18 months, from early ‘61 until mid ‘63.
Q: Then this next time - ‘64 to when?

DIETERICH: Then I went back and served at the Navy Security Station in Washington,
then ended up back in Okinawa as the Executive Officer for the relay station.

Q: And you were there from when to when?

DIETERICH: I was there from ‘64 to the spring of ‘68. It was a fairly long tour. We don't
have the relay station anymore. It reverted to the Japanese government when Okinawa
was returned to the Japanese on the grounds that it was not a defensive facility. It was
closed up at that time and a lot of its duties taken over by other relay stations. I don’t
know whether I covered it before or not - the purpose of a relay station.

Q: You had mentioned that.

DIETERICH: I did talk about that? Good. It was kind of fun because I was the only
non-engineer there among the American personnel, which meant anything an engineer
didn’t want to do (because it didn’t have to do directly with broadcasting), one way or
another I either had to do or got to do. A lot of it had to do with keeping the accounts
straight, making sure people were paid, making sure supplies were available, and running
the supply system. The station employed a lot of Okinawan civilians and some mainland
Japanese civilians. In the meantime, too, the political situation was getting a bit more
difficult. I think it was predictable that eventually the larger diplomatic interests of the
U.S., in terms of its relationship with Japan, would make the return of Okinawa to Japan
inevitable. On the other hand, if you talked to people who ran the bases and to the
Department of Defense people, it seemed unthinkable to them that the United States
would give up this marvelously located base, which indeed it was, with all the advantages
that attend to having effective sovereignty. The larger U.S. attitude was interesting, in that
we never really took over; from the very beginning, for instance, education was in the
Japanese language, and although run by Americans, it was modeled on the Japanese
system. That certainly proved that we considered our tenure to be temporary. We early on
recognized a weird doctrine of residual sovereignty as far as Japan was concerned. They
had sovereignty but did not exercise it because they ceded administrative control to the
United States. The administration itself was sort of British Colonial in the sense we never
really wanted to run everything. We just wanted to control trade, foreign relations,
military bases, and a few other things that made life easy for us. | remember one of my
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wife’s family - either her father or her cousin - saying to me, “You persons should not be
surprised if you give up this place because you never really took it over. You never said to
us 'We won, we are here to stay, school begins in English tomorrow and eventually you
are going to be part of the United States.' “ Had we said that in 1945 when they were
reeling under the shock of the battle of Okinawa and feeling betrayed, perhaps the
Okinawans, and the mainlanders, would have accommodated themselves to a new reality.
Remember that as many as 150,000 Okinawans were killed during the April-May 1945
battle - maybe as much as one third of the population. (End of tape)

I was saying, [ worked in a Quonset Hut when I was in the Navy, and I thought that was
symbolic of the nature of the U.S. administration there - serviceable but temporary. In the
early days, we got pretty tough. In an early set of elections, a member of the Japanese
Communist Party was elected, I believe, to be the mayor of Naha.

Q: Oh, yes, the mayor of Naha was renowned, sort of in and out all the time.

DIETERICH: Yes, Kamejiro Senaga, and we in no uncertain terms made sure that those
elections did not count and he did not hold office. I think we even threw him in jail for
little while.

Back to the Voice of America - most of the people were engineers, and they were an
interesting lot. I think understanding them makes it easier to understand the attitude of the
Voice of America right up to the present. They were proud of the fact that they were
probably the world’s finest short wave broadcasting engineers. There was nothing as good
as the U.S. system of transmission, this whole network they had set up. I think that
explains, in a way, the reluctance the Voice has shown to give up short-wave over the
years, no matter what other technologies are available. These persons would rather have
been, and would be, known as the greatest short-wave engineers, rather than just regular
engineers doing other kinds of broadcasting.

Part of that also had to do with the fact that almost all the alternatives that anyone came
up with for the Voice of America made the Voice dependent upon retransmission of their
signals by other, presumably foreign, broadcasting organizations. In other words, at that
time, unless you built more megawatt transmitters, the only way you could get on AM or
FM was by getting some local broadcaster to retransmit your signal. That meant you were
counting on someone else to deliver your message. That became sort of an anathema to
the VOA journalists and engineers. Almost anything would be sacrificed for independent
control of the signal. Actually, VOA was, and is, rebroadcast all the time, usually through
the efforts of local USIS posts. It always seemed to me that, except in denied areas like
China and the Soviet Union or real boondocks like the Amazon, the only people who
listened to short wave were either radio hobbyists or political loonies usually on the right
side of the spectrum - neither of which rated very high on the U.S. government's list of
priorities. If you wanted VOA to be influential you had to have it on AM or FM at drive
time in major cities, which could be done if you were willing to trust your signal to local
broadcasters. VOA accepted that reality, but they fought like tigers to protect their
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independent short wave signal.

As for the rest of relay station life, it is hard to come up with exciting moments on the
job. Typhoons would blow down our towers and we would put them back up. We had a
staff of maybe a dozen engineers - both radio and power plant types - who were directed
by a station manager who was also an engineer. I was lucky enough to have had two very
good bosses - John Rowlett and Jim Miller. The work was pretty routine most of the time.
We probably had another hundred Okinawan employees, as well as a couple of mainland
Japanese. They were great to work with. Our main administrative support, interestingly
enough, came form the U.S. Embassy in the Philippines where there was also a much
larger Relay Station. I would make occasional business trips there and those were my first
working contact with an embassy. I made contact with the USIS people and learned as
much as I could about what they were doing. It looked like a lot more fun than what I was
doing.

Q: Was the war in Vietnam beginning to affect your life?

DIETERICH: It made my life a whole lot noisier, because we lived very near the west end
of the Kadena Air base strip. The sound of fully loaded B-52s taking off is about as loud
as anything ever gets. We had to replace the putty in the windows of our houses about
every three months and I think the first Japanese word our baby daughter learned was the
word for airplane, hikoki, which the maid used to comfort here when the B-52s would
wake her up.

Remember, we were living on a U.S. military base on a beautiful pacific island until
1968. So in a sense Keiko and I were kind of isolated from all the antiwar stuff that was
going on in the United States. There was not a lot of American questioning of our
Vietnam role in Okinawa, even among American civilians and the third country nationals
who made up the FBIS staff.

But I think Vietnam did accelerate the movement for return of Okinawa to Japan.
Demonstrations were beginning to clog up the streets. Some of us had a sense that our
time was going to be limited, but it depended a lot on who you talked to. I remember one
fairly senior State Department official attached to the civil administration telling me that
Okinawa would be returned when Japan finally made a serious request for that to happen.

Q: Were you in social contact with the people at the consulate?

DIETERICH: Oh, yes, very much so. The Consul General, Carl Brower, Dick Finch, Joe
Leahy, and a very close friend who was a consular officer there named Bill Walker, who I
eventually ended up working for as DCM (Deputy Chief of Mission) when he was
ambassador to El Salvador. We became close friends during that time. As [ mentioned
before, we shared the housing area with FBIS. Their job was to monitor radio
broadcasting from roughly Pakistan through India to Korea and China and you could
throw in a few countries in between. So they had a wonderful group of people from all
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those countries whose job was to monitor and transcribe news broadcasts. They also had a
club that threw great parties and served excellent Chinese and western food. And we had
the luxury of my wife’s family and her friends. So we really had, despite my failure to
learn very much Japanese, a very nice life. We could shift from the convenience of the
base economy into the fun of being in Okinawa.

Q: When you were talking to the American civilian side, was the attitude “yes, Okinawa
is going to revert” and with the military side was it “we won it with our blood and we
are not going to give it up” attitude?

DIETERICH: Yes, that’s pretty close to the basic terms of the argument. Not only “we
won it with our blood”, there was also a less emotional attitude, “Hey wait a minute, it
works well. It’s good. We have a huge investment here. Don’t pay attention to these
people that say they want to go back to Japan, because they really don’t. They really love
us.” Remember, I talked the other session about how we convinced ourselves that the
Okinawans, because of a different ethnic identity didn’t consider themselves Japanese.
Also, we would always bring up the fact of Japanese discrimination against Okinawans,
which was fact. It often did happen. That did not mean, however, that the Okinawans
didn’t consider themselves Japanese. They were perfectly capable of considering
themselves Okinawans and Japanese. But you would trot all these arguments out, and the
final argument would be “Japan doesn’t really want Okinawa back,” and there were a lot
of senior people in the Japanese government who didn’t much. They didn’t want to have
to ask those questions about where nuclear weapons are being stored.

But it wasn't exactly a military-civilian argument. While I don't remember talking to any
military people who favored giving Okinawa back - reversion was the term we used - [
also don't remember very many American civilians who favored reversion. There were a
lot of U.S. civilians who lived in Okinawa without any formal connection with the U.S.
government. They ran businesses that served the bases or provided professional services
to military folks, or had retired from the military and decided to stay on. It was a nice
island a life was relatively cheap. They became a lot like the "zonians" we used to talk
about in Panama, which meant they weren't about to give up a cushy lifestyle. They were
the ones who often used the super-patriot arguments how we had bought Okinawa with
our blood.

I think by the time I left Okinawa there was an almost total disconnect between what
Americans thought in Okinawa and what they were thinking in Washington, or Honolulu
or Tokyo. Policy makers in Washington had to balance the military value of our control
over Okinawa against the damage the Okinawa issue was doing to a friendly government
in Tokyo and to our long-term relationship with Japan. Military folks and DOD officials
in Okinawa were concerned with the nitty-gritty facts of running important bases during
the Vietnam war. To them it was inconceivable that we would give up Okinawa merely to
please the Japanese government or because of highly theoretical concerns about future
relationships.
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Q: And there were a lot of social problems.

DIETERICH: Sure, but what was becoming obvious was that Okinawa was also
becoming an issue in Japanese domestic politics. Opposition political elements could see
right away that was a wonderful club to beat the government with. It involved the
American role in Vietnam, Japanese nationalism and what many Japanese felt their
country owed to people who had suffered more than any other Japanese in the Second
World War. This led the Japanese public to be gin asking questions like, "How can we
ignore what the Americans are doing in Okinawa? If we have residual sovereignty then
we also must have residual responsibility." That meant that every social problem
associated with the military bases in Okinawa, or its occupied status, took on a new
resonance in mainland Japan.

Criminal acts by U.S. service people, that would have been ignored in earlier times,
attracted new attention on the mainland.

Q: What does “Okinawa” mean?
DIETERICH: Something about the ocean, the horizon and a rope.

Q: There was something about “island of thieves” or something like that. There was
something like “low grade pirates” at one time?

DIETERICH: Oh, I don’t think so. They were good traders and pretty good maritime
people. They developed pretty good shipping capabilities and carried a lot of trade
between Japan and China, and at times became almost an entrepot. But thievery - no.

Q: I don’t know why - there was something that rang...

DIETERICH: There are some islands that were called the Ladrones (thieves in Spanish)
in that area.

Q: It was the Ladrones.

DIETERICH: I guess they were down near the Philippines or Indonesia maybe, but I
think the name is not used anymore.

Q: What about your wife’s family, were you picking up a feel for where they thought they
wanted to go?

DIETERICH: Sure, absolutely. My wife’s family was very divided between the mainland
and Okinawa anyway. A lot of her direct relatives had at various times moved to or
studied on the mainland. Keiko's father for one studied architecture in Tokyo in the
twenties and returned to become an eminent architect in Okinawa. During the battle for
Okinawa he had been away from home in the southern Ryukyus working on an
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architectural project for the Japanese government. After the battle he returned and went to
work for the U.S. civil administration building housing for displaced civilians. Keiko also
studied architecture on the mainland before we met. Her great uncle had founded
Okinawa’s first newspaper, the Ryukyu Shimpo. The Government of the Ryukyu Islands
issued a postage stamp with his portrait on it. One of her close cousins, and a friend of
mine, was a writer who did both journalism and books. I think they clearly believed that
Okinawa would and should return to Japan. There weren’t very many people by the 1960s
who were saying, “We should stick with the Americans.” Remember, the we had
promised nothing for the future. If in 1945 or shortly thereafter, we had told them they
would be just like Hawaii, that might - and I emphasize might - have been an attractive
model, but we never offered that. In the meantime, Japan kept looking like a more
attractive alternative. Then there were always the irritants to any civilian populations
living very close to a military base.

Q: And young persons full of piss and vinegar, age 18 and all. Sometimes it has been fine
and sometimes it has been bloody dangerous.

DIETERICH: Well, there is a pretty unattractive honky-tonk base economy around the
Kadena area and around Naha. In the meantime, too, there were more and more young
Okinawans coming back who had studied in Japan or the United States. Neither one
returned satisfied with the status quo. It was just not seen by the Okinawans as a viable
long-range alternative.

Q: Well, in ‘68, what happened?

DIETERICH: Well, in ‘68 I went back to the United States. In the meantime, I had been
agitating to change my status in the agency. I decided that I did not want to continue as an
administrative officer in relay stations. The first thing they offered me was to go to the
Philippines where they were going to build a new station, saying * you are pretty good at
what you do, and that is a great assignment for a young man to be an executive officer on
a construction site.” It probably was, if that had been what I wanted to do. I had been
writing letters and talking to people that came by telling them I wanted to get out of relay
stations and I wanted to get out of administration. [ wanted to go into the foreign service
and do substantive work in the agency. This was what I had wanted to do in the first
place, and had been prevented from doing so by my wife’s nationality. Nothing much
happened, but they said I could go back to Washington. They said. “We will assign you to
administrative duties and that would be a better base for you to try to make the change.”

Q: Was your wife an American citizen yet?

DIETERICH: Yes, she had taken advantage of the waiver of residency requirements for
people who were overseas on official assignments, and gone to Honolulu and become a
U.S. citizen. Again, that was not an optional issue at that time. Your wife had to become
a U.S. citizen or you would not get further overseas assignments. Did I mention last time
that our daughter was born and duly registered at the U.S. Consulate? Born in the Army
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hospital right near our house. That was wonderful for Keiko to have her first child right
there when family was still available.

A little bit more about the organization of the Relay Station, by the way. They had three
sites. One was the administrative headquarters at Kadena Air Base. My office was very
near my house. We had a receiver site at Onna Point farther north on the island. And a
transmitter site - the million watt transmitter was at Okuma. The U.S. Army also ran an R
and R (rest and relaxation) resort for officers right next door to the relay transmitter. Even
more conveniently, we had housing left over from the construction days. They had been
maintained and we were able to use them as guest houses. I spent a lot of time, partly on
official duties, driving up and down the island into the part of Okinawa that didn’t have a
military presence. We spent some wonderful weekends in the sand and surf of the Okuma
resort. [ was also able to travel a lot. As I said before our administrative support came out
of the Philippines. When I was in the Navy, I had been able to spend a lot of time on
mainland Japan and hitch rides to Taiwan and Hong Kong. I especially remember one trip
to Hong Kong when I flew in what was called a P2V, an old antisubmarine patrol
bomber. It was one of the last airplanes that had the transparent nose bubble, World War
II style. I sat up there and flew over Hong Kong harbor. And once my parents had come to
the mainland and the two of us had a great time with them showing off their year-old
granddaughter in Tokyo, Kyoto and the other tourist spots.

Anyway, Keiko and I got packed up and gave away our dog and moved back to
Washington. Bill Walker and his wife had gone back about a year earlier, and they got us
an apartment in the same building they lived in near Dupont Circle. A two-bedroom
apartment in that neighborhood was still cheap in those days. We had a used car, and I
went to work in the personnel division of the Voice of America. Now if there was ever a
job I hated - that was it!

Q: Was there a very clear distinction between the Voice of America and USIA (United
States Information Agency)?

DIETERICH: Yes, there was. That has a lot to do with some internal politics that finally
played themselves out now, with the total independence of the Voice. VOA was always
very uncomfortable belonging to an agency that had as its mission propaganda, if you
wanted to use the negative term, or advocacy of U.S. policy position and U.S. values, and
telling America’s story to the world. The Voice didn’t like that. They considered
themselves to be journalists who happened to be paid by the government but were
operating under a charter that absolutely bound them to tell the truth like any other
journalists. Now that attitude, stated in its boldest terms, would drive people nuts at
USIA. They would there had to be some reason the American taxpayers to pay for radio
broadcasting. Then it would drive people even more nuts at the State Department. They
would say something like, "It’s the Voice of America and I'm speaking for American
foreign policy. I want to call those persons up and tell them what to say about this
particular issue.” You were apt to get treated very badly by the Voice if you tried to do
that. But one of the things the Voice did was to always look for its own facilities and it
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got its own personnel division, which is where I worked.

Q: You were there from ‘68 to when?

DIETERICH: I was not there very long. Less than a year in that particular job.
Q: What was it that made it so unattractive?

DIETERICH: Well, to put it in a neat superficial package, I always thought the agency
recruited badly. They always got people that liked to deal with people and they put them
in the personnel division. They took people that liked to deal with figures and statistics
and put them in the budget shop. The irony was that all the personnel officers spent all
their time filling out forms and dealing with figures and statistics and very rarely met a
human being, while the poor bastards in budget, who didn’t like to do it, spent all their
time negotiating with people trying to hammer out a budget. It’s a theme I’ve often
thought about in considering how we train. There are other instances in the foreign
service of what you might almost call “perverse training.” You train a person the wrong
way, and the only reason it doesn’t become a disaster is there are certain smart-ass
mavericks that rise above the training and go out and get things done. We try young
political officers to write reporting cables and then, if they're good at it, we promote them
into jobs where they have to deal with people, influence them, and negotiate with foreign
government representatives - jobs for which they have really not been trained. Thank God
for the mavericks.

I continued my campaigning to try to get into some other line of work, and it was hard. In
the first place, if the personnel people think you are any good they don’t want to let you
go. And they control the game. But finally I got a person that said, “Jeff, the only way you
can do this is go out and get yourself a masters degree in foreign affairs.” I said, “I already
have a masters degree in foreign affairs.” The person was visibly embarrassed that he
hadn’t read my folder before he came to talk to me and said okay, they would work
something out. And they did.

They put me in a program they devised, which had to do with training mid-level officers
after they had done a couple of junior-officer tours. It was like a lot of training programs
in those days - it was more on paper than a reality, and it had to do with rotating people
around to all different elements of the agency. Probably a waste of time for mid-level
officers, but pretty good training for me. During that six months, I wrote news on the
night shift at Voice of America and wrote a pamphlet for the English teaching division of
USIA, went out as a film crew producer to cover simple VIP (very important person)
events in the Washington, DC area, including Nixon going to a diplomatic soiree of some
sort in an embassy (I can’t remember which). I remember that he stumbled over his wife
in front of the camera, but we cut it out.

Then they called me up and said it was time to think about an assignment, and they would
like me to think about going to Cochabamba. Despite the fact that I didn’t know where
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Cochabamba was or even what continent it was on, I said I was certainly willing to
consider it.

They told me to go see a lady in the foreign service personnel division and she would
explain it to me. She wasn’t there when I got there, so I sat down and realized there was
only one map on the wall and it was Latin America. That cleared up at least one mystery.
I was to be the director of a cultural center (what we called bi-national centers in those
days). It was a decent entry-level job and I said I would do it, so they sent me off to FSI
(Foreign Service Institute - now part of the National Foreign Affairs Training Center -
NFATC) for five or six months of language training. In the meantime, there had been a
change. I guess some State Department officer had been detailed to the agency, and they
had given him Cochabamba for some reason and they wanted me to go to Santa Cruz.

Q: Cochabamba is in Bolivia, isn’t it?
DIETERICH: They are both in Bolivia.
Q: But Santa Cruz?

DIETERICH: Santa Cruz de la Sierra is the Easternmost major city of Bolivia. It is in the
Bolivian lowlands over toward the Amazon territory.

During the tour in Washington, I learned a lot about USIA and the foreign service. Also
learned a lot about the United States. It was a turbulent time. I suppose I felt that our
military involvement had been a mistake, but I also believed that a total U.S. defeat
would be bad for us and for the world. I remember being tear-gassed in a restaurant in
Dupont Circle. One of my brothers was a theology student at Boston University and had
come down to Washington with his wife to participate in one of the moratorium marches.
A bunch of marchers had formed up at Dupont Circle with the intention of doing
something silly like serving an "eviction notice" at the Vietnamese embassy. The police
decided to stop them. My brother and I and our wives were having dinner at a Chinese
restaurant on P Street. That is where we got tear gassed. The gas actually came into the
restaurant. [ remember the crowd on the street was still quite orderly and young women
were passing out damp cloths to people. At another time tear gas came into our
apartment. I had imagined that an occasional whiff of tear gas was part of the foreign
service, but I had never expected my first taste to be in Washington.

Keiko and I finished our Spanish courses at FSI and headed off for Bolivia with our four
and half year-old daughter.

Everything they say about the altitude - roughly 12,000 feet -and how lousy you feel for
the first couple of days is absolutely true. It was a big USIS post in those days. About 20
years ago my wife ran across a group photograph, taken just after we had arrived, of the
USIS American staff, and there had to be 20 people. Twenty USIS officers in La Paz!
Cochabamba had its own USIS post. It had a two officer post, plus two Americans
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assigned to the cultural center. We were to go down to Santa Cruz, which at that time was
smaller than Cochabamba, and seemed much less important in Bolivia. There was only
one other official American in the town, and he was a military advisor assigned to the
Bolivian Air Force’s aviation school.

Q: You were in Bolivia from ‘70 to when?

DIETERICH: I was in Bolivia from ‘70 to ‘72. I actually did get there early in the year of
1970.

Q: What was the political situation in Bolivia at the time you were there?

DIETERICH: The country was under a military dictatorship of a conservative stripe
headed by a general named Ovando. It was barely stable at that time. We used to say
Bolivia had had more governments than years of national existence. A very unstable
country, the poorest country in the hemisphere, with the exception of Haiti. Bolivians
spend time thinking about the fact that they are landlocked. In the war of the Pacific they
lost their access to the sea to the Chileans. They have never reconciled themselves to it,
nor forgiven Chile for it, and no matter what goes wrong in Bolivia, they tend to think,
“Well, if we just had access to the sea things would be better."

The country also has some peculiar geographic views and where it is. In the Eastern
provinces of Bolivia, when they talk about La Paz, they refer to it as the interior of the
country. Now La Paz It is not all that far from the ocean in anybody else’s geographic
view. It is the capital and it is the closest to the coast. It is the Santa Cruz region that is
the interior of the country. But nevertheless the people in Santa Cruz and the Beni
province look toward the Atlantic because that is the way that part of Bolivia developed.
Jesuit missionaries came up the Paraguay River and other rivers into Bolivia. La Paz and
the highland region were settled as part of the early Spanish silver trade which flowed
into the Pacific through the port of Lima. It also has to do with the travel conditions that
prevailed until well into the twentieth century. Until some roads were built and air service
initiated, it was easier, or at least more comfortable, for people of means living in Santa
Cruz, or Riberalta or Trinidad - the Eastern Bolivian cities - to go to London, Paris or
Madrid than it was to go to La Paz. You could float down the Amazon and get a steamer

across the Atlantic, whereas going to La Paz required three punishing weeks on mule
back.

The two basic regions of the country also had very different indigenous bases and that is
very important in Latin America. In most of Latin America, the Indians could never get
rid of the conquistadores, but the conquistadores could never get rid of the Indians. The
indigenous peoples of the Andean highlands are the descendants of the Aymara and their
Incan conquerors, and they speak Aymara or Quechua. (Some experts have estimated that
only about thirty percent of Bolivians are real native speakers of Spanish.) The lowland
Indians are very different. They relate to the Guarani speakers of Paraguay and follow
tropical forest, river-based life style. In the lowlands there is not much contact between
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people who live a basically European lifestyle and those who follow indigenous lifestyles.
I think historically lowland Indians always had a choice of almost total assimilation into
Spanish culture - and many did - or total retreat into the vastness of the Amazon and
Parana river basins. Many groups are still there, living relatively undisturbed traditional
lives in the middle of the continent, but always aware that their retreat never really ends.

So there is an historic and social background to the highland-lowland regional rivalry that
is so important in Bolivian politics. It works itself out in very classic ways. You almost
see classic patterns of prejudice. People in the highlands tend to see the people in the
lowland as sort of lazy, not very sanitary, over-sexed, and they breed too much. They are
also emotional and unstable. Whereas the people in the lowland tend to see the folks up in
La Paz and Cochabamba, and especially those with Indian blood (which is a lot of folks),
as being clannish, dishonest in their business dealings, and mean. You can see those
patterns of prejudice play themselves out in lots of parts of the world. In a way, it is
almost the same sad pattern we see in this country - classic anti-black prejudice on one
hand and anti-Semitism on the other.

Q: Were there any repercussions from Che Guevara and his little escapade? That had
happened a little before your time I think.

DIETERICH: A little before. You have a good grasp for dates. Yes, it had happened by
the time I got there, but there were still a lot of stories about it. There was a very strong
and, at times, a rather nasty streak of anti-communism in what was called the Phalangist
party of Bolivia. Those are persons that don’t pay much attention to history, or don't
know any, when they pick a name like that for their party. They were really proud of their
roots in the Spanish Falange. The Falangistas really did have a lot of support among the
peasantry of Santa Cruz province, and I think a lot of that came from their sense of having
been invaded. They didn’t know whether they liked Che Guevara or not, but they knew
they didn’t like the idea of Che Guevara as an invading foreigner. In the first place they
don’t like “carpetbaggers”, especially Argentine carpetbaggers. They would see Che
Guevara more as an Argentine than a Cuban. His accent was not right for a Cuban and
they know an Argentine accent when they hear it, and they especially don’t like it when it
is telling them what to do. Also, Bolivia is a country that believes it had a revolution - the
MNR revolution under Rene Barrientos.. It was a revolution that did change things. A lot
of people say, “Well, it’s not working like it should but it was a good revolution, it was a
good idea, and maybe it will.” To a foreigner who came in and said, “That wasn’t a real
revolution, you have to have a real revolution,” they said, “What do you mean? Our
revolution is just as good as your revolution. Get out of here.” Probably the upshot of Che
was to turn the Santa Cruz region to the right.

Q: Later, that whole area became a real problem with narcotics. How was it at the time
you were there?

DIETERICH: Nothing yet. It was a region beginning to taste prosperity in the sense they
had figured out that all you had to do was grow the right crop and you could make money.
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You could see them beginning to get good at shifting crops. Shifting from cotton to soy
beans, for instance. There was evidence they had made some crop shifts already. The land
was mostly in the hands of middle class landowners who were smart enough to know you
had to pay attention, for instance in making a shift from cotton to sugar cane or
vice-versa. That does help explain what eventually happened. They figured out what the
most profitable crop was.

Q: How about the writ of the government of La Paz, was that very strong there? We are
talking about the ‘70-"72 period.

DIETERICH: In the first place, people in Santa Cruz almost always resent the
government of La Paz. There is a history of bad behavior on both sides. At that time,
Santa Cruz was not quite big enough to get much power in Bolivia, but they were too big
to suppress entirely, so there was a sense in La Paz that Santa Cruz is separatist,
troublesome, and needed to be kept in line. There was also a sense that it might be the
economic future of the country, therefore had to be kept under control. This never
extended to wanting to give Santa Cruz much political power. A governor has been
imposed who was not from Santa Cruz. A big mistake. I’1l get back to that later.

Q: Who was our ambassador when you were there?
DIETERICH: Ernie Siracusa.
Q: How did the writ of the embassy run in Santa Cruz?

DIETERICH: This was after BALPA won. (BALPA was an acronym for a U.S.
government to reduce the balance of payments deficit y cutting U.S. government
expenditures abroad.) As early as 1967 it began to impact budgets. We were reducing our
commitments Bolivia. There had been an AID mission in Santa Cruz and it had closed.
There had been a Peace Corps office and it had been drawn back to La Paz. By the time it
got there, there was a rump USIS post, but without an American officer in charge, only a
national employee who handed out films and things. I was given supervision over him
without being named BPAO (Branch Public Affairs Officer - a traditional USIS title) for
Santa Cruz, because that had financial implications. I was named only as the Director of
the Centro Boliviano Americano, a USIS accredited binational center.

All of us who worked for the government at times have had to listen to some
private-sector windbag tell us how we don’t know anything about the real world because
we have never had to meet a payroll. If you are the Director of a U.S. sponsored
binational center, you had to damn well learn how to meet a payroll. Although we got ad
hoc, occasional subsidies from USIS La Paz, basically we had to take in enough money
from English teaching to support the building and to support the Center, including a
program of cultural activities if we could find any. I went in and found a building that was
in pretty bad shape. The administrator of the Center was a lady well into her ‘70s. It was a
tough assignment to try to keep the place financially solvent. The building looked so
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awful, I decided we had to make it look better. The cheapest way to do that was to
whitewash it because that was the cheapest stuff you could get. I did scrape together the
money to have people come in and whitewash the place and then was absolutely delighted
when a comment in one of the newspapers congratulated the American Cultural Center on
its restoration of an historic building. All I had done was have it whitewashed.

And we found out, to our delight, that we had Okinawa connections in Santa Cruz. On
my first day in the office, almost the first person to come to call on me was a very
successful immigrant from Okinawa to Bolivia who had been a colleague of my
father-in-law in the early days of the U.S. administration.

I was talking about the Japanese immigration. There were two programs - one on the
mainland of Japan funded by the Japanese government and one in Okinawa funded by
USAID. Both programs were based on the willingness of the Bolivian government to give
generous amounts of land to people who would go down to Eastern Bolivia and farm it.
The Bolivian government, of course, had the land because of the U.S. supported land
reform carried out by the MNR government of Rene Barrientos.

Q: Was this in connection with the same program that was going in Brazil too?

DIETERICH: Yes, in a sense guess it was, although I don't think there was any USAID
involvement in Brazil or any program specifically for Okinawa. Also the programs in
Brazil and Peru, and perhaps elsewhere, predated World War IL.

Basically, the USAID Okinawan model would provide a basic village infrastructure.
There would be a community hall and some basic machinery, with a place to store and
repair it, and some other things. [ don’t remember now how much land the Bolivian
government was willing to give, but it was a lot by Japanese or Okinawan standards. I
remember being in the port of Naha once and seeing a ship leaving, with a band playing,
paper streamers going from ship to shore and people calling their farewells. Someone
explained these were people leaving Okinawa as immigrants to Bolivia.

As I mentioned before, a Mr. Ishu came to call on me on my first day at the cultural
center and we had discovered that he had known my wife’s father. He had held a similar
position to me father-in-laws in the U.S. administration, right after the end of the war,
when my wife’s father had worked on programs to provide emergency housing. Mr. Ishu
had been involved in food distribution at that time. He had a fascinating history. He had
first immigrated to Peru before the second world war. When the war broke out he
returned to Japan. I don’t know quite what he did, but toward the end of the war he
managed to be captured by the British, maybe in Malaya, and somehow was turned over
to the Americans. He finally found himself working in Okinawa, and once again decided
to immigrate to South America. This time went to Bolivia. Keiko and I visited them a few
times. The Ishu family was unusual in that they had 